

Georgia Southern University Digital Commons@Georgia Southern

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Graduate Studies, Jack N. Averitt College of

Spring 2019

Totally Acyclic Complexes

Holly M. Zolt

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/etd

Part of the Algebra Commons

Recommended Citation

Zolt, Holly M., "Totally Acyclic Complexes" (2019). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1905. https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/etd/1905

This thesis (open access) is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies, Jack N. Averitt College of at Digital Commons@Georgia Southern. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons@Georgia Southern. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@georgiasouthern.edu.

TOTALLY ACYCLIC COMPLEXES

by

HOLLY MARIE ZOLT

(Under the Direction of Alina Iacob)

ABSTRACT

We consider the following question: when is every exact complex of injective modules a totally acyclic one? It is known, for example, that over a commutative Noetherian ring of finite Krull dimension this condition is equivalent with the ring being Iwanaga-Gorenstein. We give equivalent characterizations of the condition that every exact complex of injective modules (over arbitrary rings) is totally acyclic. We also give a dual result giving equivalent characterizations of the complex of flat modules is F-totally acyclic over an arbitrary ring.

INDEX WORDS: Totally acyclic complexes, Gorenstein injective modules, Gorenstein projective modules, Gorenstein flat modules

2010 Mathematics Subject Classification: 16E30, 16E10

TOTALLY ACYCLIC COMPLEXES

by

HOLLY MARIE ZOLT

B.S., Georgia Southern University, 2017

A Thesis Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Georgia Southern University in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

MASTER OF SCIENCE

STATESBORO, GEORGIA

©2019

HOLLY MARIE ZOLT

All Rights Reserved

TOTALLY ACYCLIC COMPLEXES

by

HOLLY MARIE ZOLT

Major Professor: Alina Iacob Committee: Jimmy Dillies Paul Sobaje

Electronic Version Approved: May 2019

DEDICATION

Grandpa, this one is for you. Thank you for always supporting me, loving me, and encouraging me in the pursuit of my dreams. Even though you have not been here since my freshman year of college, I know that you are up in heaven smiling down. I love and miss you. Until I see you again, save a place for me.

Dennis Riddle

September 3, 1941 - April 7, 2015

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank everyone who has contributed to the successful completion of my thesis. First and foremost, I would like to thank Jesus for ultimately bringing me to this point. I know that it is by His saving grace, strength, and mercy that I am where I am in life. To Him be all the glory, honor, and praise.

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Iacob, for all of her support and encouragement throughout this process. Without her guidance, I would not have made it this far. I could not have asked for a better advisor.

Besides my advisor, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee: Dr. Sobaje and Dr. Dillies, for their insightful comments and encouragement. Thank you for your willingness to help me improve my thesis.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends. Without their constant love and support, I never would have made it this far in life. Momma, Daddy, Zack, Parker, Katie, and Keila, I am so blessed to have you as my family, and I love you guys more than you know. Catherine, Abby, Kathryn, and Amy, I am so thankful to have you as my second family. College would not have been the same without you. I love you all so much. Last, but not least, to my coworkers who became ultimately became my friends. Thank you for motivating me and challenging me to be better than I was the day before. I'm going to miss working with you guys.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS				
LIST OF SYMBOLS				
CHAPTER	ł			
1	INTRODUCTION			
2	PRELIMINARIES			
	2.1	MODULES AND TENSORS	8	
	2.2	CATEGORIES AND FUNCTORS	11	
	2.3	EXACT SEQUENCES AND PROJECTIVE, INJECTIVE, AND FLAT MODULES	12	
	2.4	COMPLEXES, RESOLUTIONS, EXT, AND TOR	17	
	2.5	GORENSTEIN COUNTERPARTS	22	
	2.6	DIMENSIONS	25	
3	MAIN	RESULTS	27	
	3.1	PRELIMINARIES	27	
	3.2	MAIN RESULTS	29	
REFEREN	CES .		33	

LIST OF SYMBOLS

\forall	for all		
e	in, element of		
\rightarrow	maps to		
\otimes	tensor product		
\mathbb{Z}	Integers		
Q	Rational numbers		
\mathbb{C}	Complex numbers		
\oplus	direct sum		
\implies	implies		
\cong	isomorphic to		
\perp	orthogonal		
\iff	if and only if		
\mathcal{GI}	Class of Gorenstein Injective modules		
\mathcal{GF}	Class of Gorenstein Flat modules		
\mathcal{GP}	Class of Gorenstein Projective modules		
\mathcal{GC}	Class of Gorenstein Cotorsion modules		
$\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$	Denotes the class of exact complexes X having all cycles in \mathcal{A}		
$Z_n(X)$	denotes $ker \delta_n$		
$\mathcal{P}roj$	Class of projective modules		

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

According to Charles A. Weibel [23], homological algebra can trace its origins back to the mid 19th century and the work of two famous mathematicians: Bernahard Riemann and Enrico Betti, who were working together on homology numbers. However, rigorous development of the notion is credited to Poincaré when he began his work on homology numbers in 1895. At this point in time, homology was considered to be apart of topology. It possibly would have remained this way, had it not been for Emmy Noether. While speaking in Göttingen in 1925, she made the statement that homology was an abelian group [21]. This statement was incredibly important as it showed that she saw the algebraic structure behind the invariant. While homology was still considered to be topological in nature, her statement began to shift the perspective of the research until it became more algebraic in nature. By 1945 homology had become a part of the realm of algebra.

By 1929, L. Mayer introduced a purely algebraic version of a chain complex [20] (Poincaré is credited with the first appearance of the idea [23]), and in 1938 Hassler Whitney discovered the general construction of tensor products for abelian groups and modules [24]. Until this point, only special cases had been indirectly known and they had dealt with vector spaces. Baer introduced complete abelian groups over a ring R [1]. However, thanks to R. Eilenberg [3] we now refer to them as injective modules. Exact sequences were discovered in 1941 by Hurewucz [16], however they were not called exact sequences until 1947 in a paper by Kelley and Pitcher [19]. These developments ultimately led to the first major textbook in the area entitled *Homological Algebra*. In this text, Cartan and Eilenberg introduced the idea of projective modules and the notions of both projective and injective resolutions [4]. This textbook drastically changed homological algebra as it consolidated all the theorems and ideas of the past decade into one place, as well as introduced many of the modern notations used today.

Gorenstein homological algebra is a relative version of homological algebra and was started in the late 1960's by Auslander. The area continued to grow, and, in the 1990's, was revolutionized when Enoch and Jenda introduced the Gorenstein counterparts to injective and projective modules [8]. Since its development, it has been shown to be useful in commutative algebra, noncommutative algebra, representation theory, and model category theory [13]. That brings us to where we are today, so now to the thesis.

CHAPTER 2

PRELIMINARIES

2.1 MODULES AND TENSORS

A module, simply put, is a generalization of a vector space. However, as opposed to using scalars from field, a module uses scalars from a ring instead. When the ring is a field, the properties of a module are the same as those of a vector space.

Definition 2.1.1. Let *R* be any ring. A **left** *R***-module** or a **left module over** *R* is a set *M* together with:

- 1. a binary operation + on M under which M is an abelian group.
- 2. an action of R on M (i.e. a map $R \times M \to M$) denoted by $rm \forall r, s \in R, m, n \in M$ which satisfies:
 - a. (r+s)m = rm + sm
 - *b.* (rs)m = r(sm)
 - c. r(m+n) = rm + rn
 - *d.* Im = m (if the ring has identity this condition is imposed)

A *right R-module* is defined similarly. The action is denoted by mr. Should R be commutative, then every left R-module is also a right R-module. Throughout this section R will be considered to be commutative and have identity unless other wise stated.

Definition 2.1.2. Let *R* be a ring, and let *M*,*N* be *R*-modules.

1. $\varphi : M \to N$ is an **R**-module homomorphism if a. $\varphi(x + y) = \varphi(x) + \varphi(y) \forall x, y \in M$ b. $\varphi(rx) = r\varphi(x) \forall x \in M, r \in R$

- 2. An *R*-module homomorphism is an *isomorphism* (of *R*-modules) if it is both injective an surjective.
- 3. $\varphi: M \to N$ is an *R*-module homomorphism, let $\ker \varphi = \{m \in M | \varphi(m) = 0\}$
- 4. Let M and N be R-modules. We define $Hom_R(M, N)$ to be the set of all R-module homomorphisms from M to N.

Hom(M, N) forms an abelian group under addition. Also, every R-module homomorphism is a group homomorphism, but not every group homomorphism is an R-module homomorphism. Moreover, when R is a field, R-module homomorphisms are called linear transformations.

Proposition 2.1.1.

- 1. If $\varphi \in Hom_R(L, M)$ and $\psi \in Hom_R(M, N)$ then $\psi \circ \varphi \in Hom_R(L, N)$
- 2. $Hom_R(M, M)$ is a ring with identity, denoted with 1. When R is commutative $Hom_R(M, M)$ is an R-algebra.

Proof. Let φ, ψ be as described, and let $r \in R$ and $x, y \in L$. Then,

$$(\psi \circ \varphi)(rx+y) = \psi(\varphi(rx+y))$$

as R-module homomorphisms are linear.

$$= \psi(r\varphi(x) + \varphi(y))$$
$$= r\psi(\varphi(x)) + \psi(\varphi(y))$$
$$= r(\psi \circ \varphi)(x) + (\psi \circ \varphi)(y)$$

For the proof of 2, see page 346 in [6]

9

Definition 2.1.3. Let R be a ring. A module M is finitely generated if there is a finite subset A of M such that M = RA. That is $M = \{r_1a_1 + r_2a_2 + \cdots + r_ma_m | r_i \in R, a_j \in A \quad \forall i, j \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$

Should R also be a field, the generating set is a basis of the vector space so long as the vector space is finite dimensional. A module is *cyclic* should the module be generated by a single element in A (i.e. $M = Ra = \{ra | r \in R\}$. As an example, let $R = \mathbb{Z}$ and let A be any abelian group. The group can be finite or infinite. For any $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $a \in A$ define

$$na = \begin{cases} a + a + \dots + a & (n \ times) & if \quad n > 0 \\ 0 & & if \quad n = 0 \\ -a - a \dots - a & (n \ times) & if \quad n < 0 \end{cases}$$

noting here that 0 is the additive identity of the abelian group. By this definition any abelian group A becomes a \mathbb{Z} -module. By the module axioms, this is the only possible action of \mathbb{Z} on A to create a \mathbb{Z} -module. In this additive notation the cyclic subgroup can be written as $\langle a \rangle = na$. If we were to define this multiplicatively, we would write $\langle a \rangle = a^n$.

Definition 2.1.4. An *R*-module *F* is said to be *free* on the subset *A* of *F* if for every $x \in F, x \neq 0$ there exists unique nonzero elements r_1, \ldots, r_n of *R* and a_1, \ldots, a_n of *A* such that $x = r_1a_1 + \ldots + r_na_n$ where *n* is an integer.

Should our ring be a field, this definition is equivalent to that of a basis when looking at a vector space.

From Enochs and Jenda's book [9] we have the following definition of a tensor product.

Definition 2.1.5. A tensor product of a right *R*-module *M* and a left *R*-module *N* is an abelian group *T* together with a universally balanced map $\sigma : M \times N \rightarrow T$

If $\sigma: M \times N \to T$ and $\sigma': M \times N \to T'$ are both universally balanced maps (that is $\sigma' = h\sigma$ where $h: T \to T'$ is unique), then we can complete the diagram.



For an example, consider the rings R and S. Let $R = \mathbb{Z}$, $S = \mathbb{Q}$, and let A be some finite abelian group with order n. Consider $\mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A = 0$. We know that $1 \otimes 0 = 1 \otimes (0+0) = 1 \otimes 0 + 0 \otimes 0 = 0$. Now, if we consider $q \otimes a$, we know that q is rational and can be written as $\frac{q}{n}n$ and we know that na = 0 in A. Thus, by Lagrange's Theorem $q \otimes a = \frac{q}{n}n \otimes a = \frac{q}{n} \otimes (na) = \frac{q}{n} \otimes 0 = \frac{q}{n}(1 \otimes 0) = 0$

2.2 CATEGORIES AND FUNCTORS

Definition 2.2.1. A category C consists of the following.

- 1. A class of objects denoted Ob(C)
- For any pair A, B ∈ Ob(C), a set Hom_C(A, B) with the property that Hom_C(A, B)∩ Hom_C(A', B') = Ø whenever (A, B) ≠ (A', B'). Hom_C(A, B) is called the set of morphisms from A to B.
- 3. A composition $Hom_C(B, C) \times Hom_C(A, B) \to Hom_C(A, C)$ for all objects A, B, C denoted $(g, f) \mapsto gf$ (or $g \circ f$) satisfying the properties:
 - a. for each $A \in Ob(C)$ there is an identity homomorphism $id_A \in Hom_C(A, A)$ such that $f \circ id_A = id_B \circ f = f$ for all $f \in Hom(A, B)$

b.
$$h(gf) = (hg)f$$
 for all $f \in Hom_C(A, B)$, $g \in Hom_C(B, C)$, and $h \in Hom_C(C, D)$

Some examples of categories are sets, abelian groups (Ab), and left R-modules (_RMod)

Definition 2.2.2. If C and D are categories, then we say we have a **functor** $F : C \to D$ if we have:

- 1. a function $Ob(C) \rightarrow Ob(D)$ (denoted F)
- 2. functions $Hom_C(A, B) \rightarrow Hom_D(F(A), F(B))$ also denoted F such that
 - a. if $f \in Hom_C(A, B)$, $g \in Hom_C(B, C)$ then F(gf) = F(g)F(f) and

b.
$$F(id_A) = id_{F(A)}$$
 for each $A \in Ob(C)$

We will primarily be concerned with the abelian categories of $_RMod$ and Mod_R .

Definition 2.2.3. If C and D are abelian categories, then a functor $F : C \to D$ is said to be left exact if for every short exact sequence $0 \to A \to B \to C \to 0$ in C the sequence $0 \to F(A) \to F(B) \to F(C)$ is exact in D. Similarly, F is said to be **right exact** if $F(A) \to F(B) \to F(C) \to 0$ is exact. F is said to be an exact functor if it is left and right exact.

We can note that Hom(M, -) and Hom(-, N) are left exact and the the tensor product of the functors are right exact. The proof of this is given on page 22 of [9].

2.3 EXACT SEQUENCES AND PROJECTIVE, INJECTIVE, AND FLAT MODULES

Definition 2.3.1. 1. Let α, β be a pair of homomorphisms. The pair $X \xrightarrow{\alpha} Y \xrightarrow{\beta} Z$ is said to be **exact** (at Y) if image $\alpha = \ker \beta$

2. A sequence $\dots \to X_{n-1} \to X_n \to X_{n+1} \to \dots$ of homomorphisms is said to be an **exact sequence** if it is exact at every X_n between a pair of homomorphisms.

Proposition 2.3.1. Let A, B, and C be R-modules over some ring R. Then

- 1. The sequence $0 \to A \xrightarrow{\psi} B$ is exact (as A) if and only if ψ is injective.
- 2. The sequence $B \xrightarrow{\varphi} C \to 0$ is exact at C if and only if φ is surjective.

Proof. The homomorphism $0 \to A$ has the image 0 in A. This is the kernel of ψ if and only if ψ is injective. Similarly, the kernel of the zero homomorphism $C \to 0$ is all of C, which is the image of φ if and only if C is surjective.

Definition 2.3.2. The exact sequence $0 \to A \xrightarrow{\psi} B \xrightarrow{\varphi} C \to 0$ is called a short exact sequence.

Definition 2.3.3. Let $0 \to A \to B \to C \to 0$ and $0 \to A' \to B' \to C' \to 0$ be short exact sequences of modules. Then a homomorphism of short exact sequences is a triple α, β, γ of module homomorphisms such that the following diagram commutes:



The homomorphism is called an isomorphism of short exact sequences if α , β , γ are all isomorphisms. In that case the extensions B and B' are said to be isomorphic extensions.

Proposition 2.3.2. Let α , β , γ be homomorphisms of short exact sequences and consider the diagram in definition 7.

- 1. If α and γ are injective then so is β .
- 2. If α and γ are surjective then so is β .

Proof. See [6]

Definition 2.3.4. An exact sequence $0 \to M' \xrightarrow{f} M \xrightarrow{g} M'' \to 0$ of *R*-modules is said to be *split exact*, or we say the sequence *splits*, if Im f is a direct summand of *M*.

Proposition 2.3.3. The short exact sequence $0 \to A \xrightarrow{\psi} B \xrightarrow{\varphi} C \to 0$ of *R*-modules is split if and only if there is an *R*-module homomorphism $\mu : C \to B$ such that $\varphi \circ \mu$ is the identity map on *C*.

Proof. The proof follows directly from definitions.

Throughout the rest of this section, we will assume that R is a ring with identity unless otherwise stated. We will also suppose that M, which is an R-module, is an extension of N by L. This corresponds to the short exact sequence of R-modules.

$$0 \to L \xrightarrow{\psi} M \xrightarrow{\varphi} N \to 0$$

Proposition 2.3.4. Let D, L, and M be R-modules and let $\psi : L \to M$ be an R-module homomorphism. Then the map

$$\psi' : Hom_R(D, L) \to Hom_R(D, M)$$

 $f \mapsto f' = \psi \circ f$

is a homomorphism of abelian groups. If ψ is injective then ψ' is also injective, i.e., if

$$0 \to L \xrightarrow{\psi} M$$

is exact, then

$$0 \to Hom_R(D,L) \xrightarrow{\psi'} Hom_R(D,M)$$

is also exact.

Theorem 2.3.1. Let D, L, M, and N be R-modules. If

and $\psi \circ q$ from D into M, which then says that ψ' is injective.

$$0 \to L \xrightarrow{\psi} M \xrightarrow{\varphi} N \to 0$$

is exact, then the associated sequence

$$0 \to Hom_R(D,L) \xrightarrow{\psi'} Hom_R(D,M) \xrightarrow{\varphi'} Hom_R(D,N) \to 0$$

is also exact.

Proof. See [6]

Definition 2.3.5. An *R*-module *P* is said to be **projective** if given an exact sequence $A \xrightarrow{\varphi} B \rightarrow 0$ of *R*-modules and an *R*-homomorphism $f : P \rightarrow B$, then there exists an *R*-homomorphism $\mu : P \rightarrow A$ such that $f = \varphi \circ \mu$.



This is equivalent to saying that our module P is projective if given that we have an exact sequence $A \to B \to 0$, then $Hom_R(P, A) \to Hom_R(P, B) \to 0$ is exact.

There is also an equivalent definition dealing with free modules.

Definition 2.3.6. P is projective if it is a direct summand of a free R-module

Proposition 2.3.5. Let P be an R-module. Then the following are equivalent:

1. P is projective.

- 2. Hom(P, -) is right exact.
- 3. Every short exact sequence $0 \rightarrow A \rightarrow B \rightarrow P \rightarrow 0$ is split exact.
- 4. *P* is a direct summand of a free *R*-module.

Proof. See proof on page 40 of [9]

Proposition 2.3.6. Every free R-module is projective.

Proof. The proof is immediate from the previous proposition.

For any ring R, we have that R and R^n are projective R-modules. More generally, every vector space is a free module and thus projective. However the converse is not necessarily true. If we consider \mathbb{Z} as a module over the ring $R = \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$, it is projective, but it is not a free module.

Definition 2.3.7. An *R*-module *F* is said to be **flat** if given any exact sequence $0 \to A \to B$ of right *R*-modules, the tensored sequence $0 \to A \otimes_R F \to B \otimes_R F$ is exact.

Proposition 2.3.7. The direct sum $\bigoplus_{i \in I} F_i$ is flat if and only if each F_i is flat.

Corollary 2.3.1. Every projective module is flat.

Proof. Let P be projective. P is a summand of a free module by theorem 2.7. But R is a flat R-module. Thus every free module is flat. Therefore, P is a direct summand of a flat module. By the previous proposition, P must be flat. \Box

The third type of module in this section is an injective module.

Definition 2.3.8. An *R*-module *E* is said to be *injective* if given *R*-modules $A \subset B$ and a homomorphism $f : A \to E$, there exists a homomorphism $g : B \to E$ such that $g|_A = f$



Theorem 2.3.2. Let E be an R-module. The following are equivalent.

- 1. E is injective.
- 2. Hom(-, E) is right exact.

3. E is a direct summand of every R module containing E.

Proof. $1 \implies 2$: is obvious.

2 \implies 3: Consider the exact sequence $0 \rightarrow E \rightarrow B \rightarrow C \rightarrow 0$ of R-modules. Then $Hom(B, E) \rightarrow Hom(E, E) \rightarrow 0$ is exact, so E is a direct summand of B.

 $3 \implies 1$: Let $A \subset B$ and consider the pushout diagram:



j is one to one, so $0 \to E \xrightarrow{j} C$ is split exact. So there is a map $s : C \to E$ such that $s \circ j = id_E$. Then $g = s \circ f'$ is an extension of f since $g \circ i = s \circ f' \circ i = s \circ f \circ j = f$. \Box

2.4 COMPLEXES, RESOLUTIONS, EXT, AND TOR

For this thesis, it is important to understand the notion of a complex.

Definition 2.4.1. A (Chain) Complex C of R-modules is a sequence

$$\boldsymbol{C}: \dots \to C_2 \xrightarrow{\delta_2} C_1 \xrightarrow{\delta_1} C_0 \xrightarrow{\delta_0} C_{-1} \xrightarrow{\delta_{-1}} \dots$$

of *R*-modules and *R*-homomorphisms such that $\delta_{n-1} \circ \delta_n = 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Also, one can note that in a complex \mathbf{C} , the $Im(\delta_{n+1}) \subset ker(\delta_n)$. Typically, $ker(\delta_n)$ and $Im(\delta_{n+1})$ are denoted $Z_n(\mathbf{C})$ and $B_n(\mathbf{C})$ respectively. Their elements are called ncycles and n-boundaries respectively. Finally, we can also define the n^{th} homology module of \mathbf{C} . This module is defined as $\frac{ker(\delta_n)}{Im(\delta_{n+1})}$ and is denoted by $H_n(\mathbf{C})$. So $H_n(\mathbf{C}) = 0$ if and only if \mathbf{C} is exact at C_n .

Theorem 2.4.1. If $0 \rightarrow C' \rightarrow C \rightarrow C'' \rightarrow 0$ is an exact sequence of complexes then there is an exact sequence

$$\cdots \to H_{n+1}(\mathbf{C'}) \to H_{n+1}(\mathbf{C}) \to H_{n+1}(\mathbf{C''}) \to H_n(\mathbf{C'}) \to H_n(\mathbf{C}) \to \cdots$$

for each $n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

An *acyclic* complex is simply an exact complex. Using this we will define totally acyclic and F-totally acyclic complexes.

Definition 2.4.2. Let $P = \cdots \rightarrow P_1 \rightarrow P_0 \rightarrow P_{-1} \rightarrow \cdots$ be an acyclic complex of projective modules and let $I = \cdots \rightarrow I_1 \rightarrow I_0 \rightarrow I_{-1} \rightarrow \cdots$ be an acyclic complex of injective modules. P is said to be **totally acyclic** if for any projective *R*-module P, the complex $\cdots \rightarrow Hom(P_{-1}, P) \rightarrow Hom(P_0, P) \rightarrow Hom(P_1, P) \rightarrow \cdots$ is still acyclic. I is said to be **totally acyclic** if for any injective *R*-module I, the complex $\cdots \rightarrow Hom(I, I_1) \rightarrow$ $Hom(I, I_0) \rightarrow Hom(I, I_{-1}) \rightarrow \cdots$ is still acyclic.

Definition 2.4.3. Let $F = \cdots \rightarrow F_1 \rightarrow F_0 \rightarrow F_{-1} \rightarrow \cdots$ be an acyclic complex of flat modules. *F* is said to be *F*-totally acyclic if for any injective right *R*-module *I*, the complex $\cdots \rightarrow I \otimes F_1 \rightarrow I \otimes F_0 \rightarrow I \otimes F_{-1} \rightarrow \cdots$ is still acyclic. In an Iwanaga Gorenstein ring, every acyclic complex of flat modules is F-totally acyclic. Thus over this ring, the class of Gorenstein projective (injective, flat) modules coincide with that of the cycles of acyclic complexes projectives (injectives, flats, respectively) [11].

Definition 2.4.4. Let M be any R-module. A projective resolution of M is an exact sequence

$$\dots \to P_n \to P_{n-1} \to \dots \to P_0 \to M \to 0 \tag{2.1}$$

such that each P_i is a projective *R*-module.

Definition 2.4.5. Every *R*-module *N* has an exact sequence $0 \to N \to E^0 \to E^1 \to \cdots$ with E^i injective. This sequence is called an **injective resolution** of *N*.

Definition 2.4.6. Every *R*-module has a *flat resolution* that is an exact sequence $\cdots \rightarrow F_1 \rightarrow F_0 \rightarrow M \rightarrow 0$ with each F_i flat.

This follows from the definition of a projective resolution as well as the fact that every projective module is flat.

Every R-module has a projective resolution, Now that projective resolutions have been defined, we can also define the Ext group and the cohomology group derived from the functor $Hom_R(-, D)$. Consider the deleted projective resolution of (2.1).

 $\cdots \to P_n \to P_{n-1} \to \cdots \to P_2 \xrightarrow{d_2} P_1 \xrightarrow{d_1} P_0 \to 0$

If we apply the functor Hom(-, A) to the deleted resolution, we obtain the following exact complex:

$$0 \to Hom_R(P_0, A) \xrightarrow{\delta_0} Hom_R(P_1, A) \xrightarrow{\delta_1} Hom_R(P_2, A) \xrightarrow{\delta_2} \cdots$$
(2.2)

The complex defined in (2.2) is not normally an exact complex. Thus, we define the *nth cohomology module* of the complex denoted $Ext_R^i(M, A)$.

$$Ext_{R}^{i}(M,A) = Ker \,\delta_{i+1}/Im \,\delta_{i}$$

Proposition 2.4.1. For any *R*-module A we have $Ext_R^0(A, D) \cong Hom_R(A, D)$

Proof. See page 780 of [6]

Theorem 2.4.2. Let $0 \to L \to M \to N \to 0$ be a short exact sequence of *R*-modules. Then there is a long exact sequence of abelian groups

$$0 \to Hom_R(N, D) \to Hom_R(M, D) \to Hom_R(L, D) \xrightarrow{\delta_0} Ext_R^1(N, D) \to Ext_R^1(M, D) \to Ext_R^1(L, D) \xrightarrow{\delta_1} Ext_R^2(N, D) \to \cdots$$

Proof. See page 784 of [6].

•

Proposition 2.4.2. If P is projective, then $Ext_R^n(P, B) = 0$ for all R-modules B and all $n \ge 1$

Proof. If P is projective R-module, then the simple exact sequence

$$0 \to P \xrightarrow{1} P \to 0$$

is a projective resolution of P. Taking homomorphism into B gives the simple cochain complex

$$0 \to Hom_R(P, B) \xrightarrow{1} Hom_R(P, B) \to 0 \cdots 0 \to \cdots$$

from which it follows by definition of $Ext_R^n(P, B)$ for all $n \ge 1$ as desired. \Box

The converse of this statement is also true (see [9] prop 8.4.3), which allows the proposition to be if and only if. There is also a similar proposition dealing with injective R-modules in [6] on page 784. The proposition in essence equates a module Q being injective to the $Ext_R^n(A, Q) = 0$ for all R-module A and for all n greater than or equal to 1. We can also similarly define injective resolutions.

By Theorem 3.1.7 in Enochs and Jenda [9], every R-module can be embedded in an injective R-module. Thus it follows that R-module N has an exact sequence $0 \rightarrow N \rightarrow E^0 \rightarrow E^1 \rightarrow \cdots$ This sequence is called an *injective resolution*. The propositions and theorems for projective resolutions also hold for injective resolutions.

Now that we have defined resolutions, we can define the Tor functor. For this functor we will be consider the following two sequences

$$\dots \to P_n \xrightarrow{d_n} P_{n-1} \to \dots \xrightarrow{d_1} P_0 \xrightarrow{\epsilon} B \to 0$$
(2.3)

$$\cdots \to D \otimes P_n \xrightarrow{1 \otimes d_n} D \otimes P_{n-1} \to \cdots \xrightarrow{1 \otimes d_1} D \otimes P_0 \xrightarrow{1 \otimes \epsilon} D \otimes B \to 0$$
(2.4)

Definition 2.4.7. Let *D* be a right *R*-module and let *B* be a left *R*-module. For any projective resolution of *B* by left *R*-modules as in (2.3) let $1 \otimes d_n : D \otimes P_n \to D \otimes P_{n-1}$ for all $n \ge 1$ as in (2.4). Then

$$Tor_n^R(D,B) = \frac{ker(1 \otimes d_n)}{image(1 \otimes d_{n+1})}$$

where $Tor_0^R(D, B) = (D \otimes P_0) / image(1 \otimes d_{n+1})$.

The group $Tor_n^R(D, B)$ is called the nth Homology group derived from the functor $D \otimes -$.

Proposition 2.4.3. For any left *R*-module *B*, we have $Tor_0^R(D, B) \cong D \otimes B$

Proposition 2.4.4. For every *R*-module homomorphism $f : B \to B'$ there are induced maps $\psi_n : Tor_n^R(D, B) \to Tor_n^R(D, B')$ on homology groups

Theorem 2.4.3. Let $0 \to L \to M \to N \to 0$ be a short exact sequence of left *R*-modules. Then there is a long exact sequence of abelian groups

$$\cdots \to Tor_2^R(D,N) \xrightarrow{\delta_1} Tor_1^R(D,L) \to Tor_1^R(D,M) \to Tor_1^R(D,N) \xrightarrow{\delta_0} D \otimes L \to D \otimes M \otimes N \to 0$$

Proposition 2.4.5. For a right *R*-module *D*, the following are equivalent.

1. D is a flat R-module

2.
$$Tor_n^R(D,B) = 0$$
 for all left R-modules B and for all $n \ge 1$

Proof. See page 790 of [6]

Definition 2.4.8. An *R*-module *M* is said to have projective dimension at most *n*, denoted $pd_RM \le n$, if there is a projective resolution $0 \to P^n \to \cdots \to P^1 \to P^0 \to M \to 0$

We can similarly define both injective dimension and flat dimension. Respectively, they are denoted inj dim M and flat dim M.

2.5 GORENSTEIN COUNTERPARTS

In this section, we will define Iwanaga-Gorenstein rings and modules. We will also define the Gorenstein counterparts to projective, injective, and flat modules. However, in order to do that, we will first define Noetherian rings and modules.

Definition 2.5.1. *Let R be a commutative ring with identity. R is Noetherian if every ideal is finitely generated.*

Recall that an ideal, in essence is simply a subgroup of a ring. Ideals allow us to form the quotient ring R/I where R is a ring and I an ideal of R. By defining Noetherian modules, we can also obtain an alternative definition for a Noetherian ring.

Definition 2.5.2. *Let M be an R-module*

- 1. *M* is *Noetherian* if every chain of ascending chain of submodules of *M* terminates.
- 2. A ring R is Noetherian if it is Noetherian as a left R-module over itself.

If we consider a Principal Ideal Domain, an integral domain in which every ideal is principal (generated by a single element), we can see that every PID is Noetherian. This is because every submodule is the same as its ideals.

Definition 2.5.3. A ring R is said to be **Iwanaga-Gorenstein** or simply **Gorenstein** if R is both left and right Noetherian and if R has finite self-injective dimension as a left and as a right R-module.

Proposition 2.5.1. If R is left (right) noetherian and the left (right) self injective dimension of R is $n < \infty$, then inj dim $F \le n$ for every flat left (right) R-module. Also, if flat dim $M < \infty$ for a left (right) R-module M, then the projective dimension of $M \le n$.

Proof. See page 211 of [9].

Now that we have defined both Noetherian and Iwanaga-Gorenstein rings, we can move on to defining the Gorenstein counterparts for projective, injective, and flat modules.

Definition 2.5.4. A module M is said to be **Gorenstein Projective** if there is a Hom(-, Proj) exact-exact sequence

$$\cdots \rightarrow P_1 \rightarrow P_0 \rightarrow P^0 \rightarrow P^1 \rightarrow \cdots$$

of projective modules such that $M = ker(P^0 \rightarrow P^1)$.

Definition 2.5.5. A module N is said to be **Gorenstein Injective** if there exists a Hom(Inj, -) exact-exact sequence

$$\cdots \to E_1 \to E_0 \to E^0 \to E^1 \to \cdots$$

of injective modules such that $N = ker(E^0 \rightarrow E^1)$.

Thus in other words, a Gorenstein projective module is the kernel of a totally acyclic complex of projective modules. Similarly a Gorenstein injective module is the kernel of a totally acyclic complex of injective modules. If we consider, for example, a projective

module it will be Gorenstein. In fact, all projective modules are Gorenstein projective. However, the converse is not true. Consider the ring $\mathbb{Z}/4\mathbb{Z}$ and the module $M = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. M is Gorenstein projective, but it is not projective. Similarly, every injective module is is Gorenstein injective. Again, the converse of the statement is not true. This can be demonstrated using the same ring and module as above.

Proposition 2.5.2. Let R be Noetherian and let $0 \rightarrow M' \rightarrow M \rightarrow M''$ be an exact sequence of finitely generated right R-modules. If M' and M'' are Gorenstein projective, then M is Gorenstein projective as well. If M'' and M are Gorenstein projective, then so is M'. If M and M' are Gorenstein projective, then M'' is Gorenstein projective if and only if $Ext^1(M'', P) = 0$ for all finitely generated projective R-modules P.

Both the remark and proposition can be dually defined for Gorenstein injective modules.

Proof. See page 249 of [9]

The final Gorenstein counterpart is for flat modules.

Definition 2.5.6. A module M is said to be **Gorenstein flat** if there exists and $Inj \otimes -$ exact-exact sequence

 $\cdots \to F_1 \to F_0 \to F^0 \xrightarrow{\delta} F^1 \to \cdots$

of flat modules such that $M = ker(\delta)$.

Similar to the previous definitions, a Gorenstein flat module is the kernel of an Ftotally acyclic complex of flat modules. It follows from the definition that $Tor_i(E, M) = 0$ for all $i \ge 1$ and any injective module E.

Proposition 2.5.3. *Let R be Noetherian. Then every finitely generated Gorenstein projective module is Gorenstein flat.*

Theorem 2.5.1. Let *R* be Noetherian and let $0 \to M' \to M \to M''$ be an exact sequence of finitely generated right *R*-modules. If *M'* and *M''* are Gorenstein flat, then *M* is Gorenstein flat as well. If *M''* and *M* are Gorenstein flat, then so is *M'*. If *M* and *M'* are Gorenstein flat, then *M''* is Gorenstein flat if and only if $0 \to E \otimes M' \to E \otimes M$ is exact for any injective module *E*.

Proof. See page 257 of [9].

2.6 **DIMENSIONS**

Projective, injective, and flat dimensions, also known as homological dimensions, are defined in terms of resolutions.

Definition 2.6.1. The minimal length of a finite projective resolution $0 \to P_n \to P_{n-1} \to \cdots \to P_1 \to P_0 \to M \to 0$ of an *R*-module *M* is called the **projective dimension of** *M* and is denoted pd_RM If *M* does not admit a finite projective resolution, then the projective dimension is infinite.

Similarly, we can define both injective and flat dimensions. Respectively, they are denoted injdim M and flatdim M. We can also define the Krull dimension.

Definition 2.6.2. The *Krull dimension* of *R*, denoted dim *R*, is the supremum of the number of strict inclusions in a chain of prime ideals.

If we consider a field for example, the Krull dimension is 0. If we use a PID, then the dimension is 1, given that it is not a field. For example, \mathbb{Z} and k[x] both have Krull dimension 1 becasue they are PIDs.

Definition 2.6.3. The minimal length of a finite exact sequence of an *R*-module M

$$0 \to G_n \to G_{n-1} \to \dots \to G_1 \to G_0 \to M \to 0$$

with each G_j being Gorenstein projective is called the Gorenstein projective dimension of M and is denoted Gpd_RM .

Again, we can similarly define *Gorenstein injective dimension*, denoted $\text{Gid}_R M$, and *Gorenstein flat dimension*, denoted $\text{Gfd}_R M$.

CHAPTER 3

MAIN RESULTS

3.1 PRELIMINARIES

Before stating and proving the two main theorems of this thesis, there are several definitions and some prerequisite knowledge that will first need to be addressed. Note that $\mathcal{GI}, \mathcal{GP}$, and \mathcal{GF} refer to the classes of Gorenstein injective, projective, and flat modules respectively. Also, $\mathcal{P}roj$ and $\mathcal{I}nj$ refer to the classes of projective and injective modules respectively. Recall that for a complex $X = \cdots \rightarrow X_{n+1} \xrightarrow{d_n+1} X_n \xrightarrow{d_n} X_{n-1} \rightarrow \cdots$ we use the notation $Z_n(X) = \ker d_n$

Definition 3.1.1. Let \mathcal{A} be a class of R-modules. An acyclic complex X is in $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$ if $Z_j(X) \in \mathcal{A}$ for all integers j.

Definition 3.1.2. Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ be a cotorsion pair in *R*-mod. A complex *Y* is a dg- \mathcal{A} complex if each $Y_n \in \mathcal{A}$ and if each map $Y \to U$ is null homotopic for each complex $U \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}$.

Definition 3.1.3. Let C be a class of modules and let D be an abelian category. The **right** orthogonal class, C^{\perp} is defined to be the class of objects $Y \in D$ such that $Ext^{1}(A, Y) = 0$ for all $A \in C$.

The *left orthogonal class* of C can be defined similarly and is denoted ${}^{\perp}C$.

Definition 3.1.4. Let \mathcal{D} be an abelian category and let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ be a pair of classes in \mathcal{D} . $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is called a **cotorsion pair** if $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A}^{\perp}$ and $\mathcal{A} =^{\perp} \mathcal{B}$.

Definition 3.1.5. Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ be a cotorsion pair. The cotorsion pair is called **hereditary** if $Ext^{i}(A, B) = 0$ for all $A \in \mathcal{A}$, $B \in \mathcal{B}$, and for all $i \ge 1$.

Definition 3.1.6. Let $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ be a cotorsion pair. The cotorsion pair is called **complete** if for each object M in \mathcal{D} there exists short exact sequences $0 \to M \to B \to A \to 0$ and $0 \to B' \to A' \to M \to 0$ with $A \in \mathcal{A}, B \in \mathcal{B}$. According to Gillespie ([14], Definition 3.3 and Proposition 3.6), there are four classes of complexes in Ch(R) that are associated with a cotorsion pair $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ in R-mod:

- 1. An acyclic complex X is an A-complex if $Z_j(X) \in \mathcal{A}$ for all integers j. $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}$ denotes the class of all acyclic A-complexes.
- 2. An acyclic complex X is a \mathcal{B} -complex if if $Z_j(X) \in \mathcal{B}$ for all integers j. $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ denotes the class of all acyclic \mathcal{B} -complexes.
- 3. A complex Y is a dg- \mathcal{A} complex if each $Y_n \in \mathcal{A}$ and each map $Y \to U$ is null homotopic, for each complex $U \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$. dg(\mathcal{A}) denotes the class of all dg- \mathcal{A} complexes.
- A complex W is a dg-B complex if each W_n ∈ A and each map V → W is null homotopic, for each complex V ∈ Ã. dg(B) denotes the class of all dg-A complexes.

It was shown by Yang and Liu ([25]) that when $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B})$ is a complete hereditary cotorsion pair in R-mod, the pairs $(dg(\mathcal{A}), \widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and $(\widetilde{\mathcal{A}}, dg(\mathcal{B}))$ are also complete and hereditary cotorsion pair. Moreover, by Gillespie ([14]), $\widetilde{\mathcal{A}} = dg(\mathcal{A}) \cap \mathcal{E}$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}} = dg(\mathcal{B}) \cap \mathcal{E}$, where \mathcal{E} is the class of all acyclic complexes. Two other known complete hereditary cotorsion pairs are $(\mathcal{P}roj, R - mod)$ and $(R - mod, \mathcal{I}nj)$. Using these pairs, you can obtain the complete and hereditary cotorsion pairs: $(\mathcal{E}, dg(\mathcal{I}nj))$ and $(dg(\mathcal{P}roj), \mathcal{E})$. Due to Krause ([18]), over a left Noetherian ring, the pair $(^{\perp}\mathcal{GI}, \mathcal{GI})$ is a complete and hereditary cotorsion pair, and therefore $(dg(^{\perp}\mathcal{GI}), \widetilde{\mathcal{GI}})$ is a complete and hereditary cotorsion pair in Ch(R). Saroch and Stovicek ([22]) showed that over any ring R that $(^{\perp}\mathcal{GI}, \widetilde{\mathcal{GI}})$ is a complete hereditary cotorsion pair in Ch(R). Utilizing this information and the definitions above from Gillespie, we can more specifically say that $X \in dg(\mathcal{GI}) \iff X_n \in \mathcal{GI}$ and any $f : A \to X$ is homotopic to 0 $\forall A \in \widetilde{\perp \mathcal{GI}}$.

Should R be a right n-perfect ring, that is each flat right R-module has projective dimension $\leq n$, then $(\mathcal{GP}, \mathcal{GP}^{\perp})$ and $({}^{\perp}\mathcal{GI}, \widetilde{\mathcal{GI}})$ are complete and hereditary cotorsion pairs (see Estrada, Iacob, and Odabaşi ([12] Proposition 7). Finally, due to Enochs, Jenda, and Ramos [10], if R is a left coherent ring, then $(\mathcal{GF}, \mathcal{GF}^{\perp})$ and $(\widetilde{\mathcal{GF}}, dg(\mathcal{GF}^{\perp}))$. \mathcal{GF}^{\perp} is known as the class of *Gorenstein cotorsion modules* and is often times denoted by \mathcal{GC} .

Definition 3.1.7. Let \mathcal{A} be a class of modules. $dw(\mathcal{A})$ denotes the class of complexes of modules, X, such that each component, X_n , is in \mathcal{A}

3.2 MAIN RESULTS

It is known that over a Gorenstein ring every complex of injective modules is totally acyclic. Similarly, every complex of projective modules and flat modules is totally acyclic and F-totally acyclic respectively. Over these rings, Gorenstein injective (and respectively projective and flat) modules are just the cycles of the exact complexes of injective (projective, flat) modules. Therefore, these questions "Can these conditions characterize Gorenstein rings?" and, more generally, "Is it possible to characterize Gorenstein rings in in terms of exact complexes of Gorenstein injective, Gorenstein projective, and Gorenstein flat modules?" would be normal questions to ask. Our results give equivalent characterizations of the statement "Every exact complex of injective modules is totally acyclic"; we also prove a dual result for complexes of flat modules. Both results hold over any ring (associative with identity).

Theorem 3.2.1. Let *R* be any ring, then the following are equivalent:

- 1. Every exact complex of injective R-modules is totally acyclic.
- 2. Every exact complex of Gorenstein injective R-modules is in $\widetilde{\mathcal{GI}}$.
- 3. Every complex of Gorenstein injective R-modules is a dg-Gorenstein injective complex.

Proof. 1. \implies 2. Let Y be an exact complex of Gorenstein injective modules. Since $({}^{\perp}\mathcal{GI}, \mathcal{GI})$ is a complete hereditary cotorsion pair, we have that the pair $({}^{\perp}\mathcal{GI}, dg(\mathcal{GI}))$ is a complete cotorsion pair in Ch(R). So there exists a short exact sequence $0 \to A \to B \to Y \to 0$ with $B \in {}^{\perp}\mathcal{GI}$ and with $A \in dg(\mathcal{GI})$. Both B and Y are exact complexes, so A is also an exact complex. Since A is exact and in $dg(\mathcal{GI})$, it is in $\widetilde{\mathcal{GI}}$. For each n we have a short exact sequence $0 \to A_n \to B_n \to Y_n \to 0$ with both Y_n and A_n in \mathcal{GI} . Therefore $B_n \in \mathcal{GI}$ for all n. Since $B_n \in {}^{\perp}\mathcal{GI} \cap \mathcal{GI}$, it follows that B_n is injective for each integer n. Thus B is an exact complex of injective modules, and then by (1), B is totally acyclic. Thus $Z_n(B)$ is Gorenstein injective for all n.

The exact sequence $0 \to Z_n(A) \to Z_n(B) \to Z_n(Y) \to 0$ with both $Z_n(A)$ and $Z_n(B)$ Gorenstein injective gives us that $Z_n(Y)$ is Gorenstein injective. Therefore $Y \in \widetilde{\mathcal{GI}}$

2. \implies 3. Let X be a complex of Gorenstein injective R-modules. Since $(\mathcal{E}, dg(\mathcal{I}nj))$ is a complete cotorsion pair, there exists an exact sequence $0 \rightarrow A \rightarrow B \rightarrow X \rightarrow 0$ with A being a DG-injective complex and with B being an exact complex. Then for each n there is an exact sequence $0 \rightarrow A_n \rightarrow B_n \rightarrow X_n \rightarrow 0$ with A_n injective and with X_n Gorenstein injective. It follows that each B_n is Gorenstein injective. So B is an exact complex of Gorenstein injective modules. By (2), B is in $\widetilde{\mathcal{GI}}$, and therefore in $dg(\mathcal{GI})$.

Let $Y \in \widetilde{\perp \mathcal{GI}}$. The exact sequence $0 \to A \to B \to X \to 0$ gives an exact sequence $0 = Ext^1(Y, B) \to Ext^1(Y, X) \to Ext^2(Y, A) = 0$ (since Y is exact and A is a DGinjective complex). It follows that $Ext^1(Y, X) = 0$ for any $Y \in \widetilde{\perp \mathcal{GI}}$, so $X \in dg(\mathcal{GI})$. Therefore, we have that $dw(\mathcal{GI}) \subseteq dg(\mathcal{GI})$. The other inclusion always holds, thus $dg(\mathcal{GI}) = dw(\mathcal{GI})$.

3. \implies 1. Let X be an exact complex of injective left R-modules. In particular, let $X \in dw(\mathcal{GI})$, by (3), $X \in dg(\mathcal{GI})$. Since $X \in dg(\mathcal{GI})$ and X is exact, it follows that $X \in \widetilde{\mathcal{GI}}$, and therefore $Z_n(X) \in \mathcal{GI}$ for all n. Thus X is a totally acyclic complex. \Box

Theorem 3.2.2. Let R be any ring, then the following are equivalent.

- 1. Every exact complex of flat right R-modules if F-totally acyclic
- 2. Every exact complex of cotorsion-flat right R-modules is F-totally acyclic
- 3. Every exact complex of Gorenstein flat right R-modules is in $\widetilde{\mathcal{GF}}$.
- 4. Every complex of Gorenstein flat right R-modules is a dg-Gorenstein flat complex.
- *Proof.* 1. \implies 2 This is immediate.

2. \implies 3. Let Y be an exact complex of cotorsion flat right R-modules that is Ftotally acyclic. $(\mathcal{GF}, \mathcal{GC})$ is a complete hereditary cotorsion pair in R-mod, so we have that $(\widetilde{\mathcal{GF}}, dg(\mathcal{GC}))$ is a complete hereditary cotorsion pair in R-mod. Thus, there exists a short exact sequence $0 \rightarrow B \rightarrow A \rightarrow Y \rightarrow 0$ with $A \in \widetilde{\mathcal{GF}}$ and $B \in dg(\mathcal{GC})$. Both Y and A are exact so B is also exact. Since B is exact and B is in $dg(\mathcal{GC})$, $B \in \widetilde{\mathcal{GC}}$. For each $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have a short exact sequence $0 \rightarrow B_n \rightarrow A_n \rightarrow Y_n \rightarrow 0$ with $B_n \in \mathcal{GC}$ and $Y_n \in \mathcal{GF}$. So we have a split exact sequence and $A_n \simeq B_n \oplus Y_n$ and $A_n \in \mathcal{GF}$. Thus, B_n is in both \mathcal{GF} and \mathcal{GC} . Therefore, $B_n \in Flat$. (Flat, Cot) and $(\mathcal{GF}, \mathcal{GC})$ are cotorsion pairs. $Flat \subseteq \mathcal{GF}$ implies that $\mathcal{GC} \subseteq Cot$. Thus B_n is also cotorsion, making it cotorsion flat. This implies that B is an exact complex of cotorsion flat modules, so by (2) we have that B is F-totally acyclic, and therefore $Z_n(B) \in \mathcal{GF} \forall n$.

The exact sequence $0 \to Z_n(B) \to Z_n(A) \to Z_n(Y) \to 0$ with both $Z_n(B)$ and $Z_n(A)$ Gorenstein flat yields that $GfdZ_n(Y) \leq 1$. However, Y is an exact complex of flat modules, $Y = \cdots \to Y_{n+1} \to Y_n \to Y_{n-1} \to \cdots$. So there exists the exact sequence $0 \to Z_{n+1}(Y) \to Y_n \to Z_n(Y) \to 0$ with $Gfd(Z_n(Y)) \leq 1$ and $Y_n \in Flat$ implies $Z_{n+1}(Y) \in \mathcal{GF}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. Thus $Y \in \widetilde{\mathcal{GF}}$.

3. \implies 4. Let Y be an exact complex of Gorenstein flat R-modules. $(dg(\mathcal{P}roj), \mathcal{E})$ is a complete hereditary cotorsion pair in Ch(R). Therefore, there exists a short exact sequence $0 \rightarrow Y \rightarrow B \rightarrow A \rightarrow 0$ with $A \in dg(\mathcal{P}roj)$ and B an exact complex. For each $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have the short exact sequence $0 \rightarrow Y_n \rightarrow B_n \rightarrow A_n \rightarrow 0$ with Y_n Gorenstein flat and A_n

projective and therefore flat. Thus B_n is Gorenstein flat, which implies $B \in \widetilde{\mathcal{GF}}$ (by 3) and in $dg(\mathcal{GF})$.

Let $D \in \widetilde{\mathcal{GC}}$. Our short exact sequence $0 \to Y \to B \to A \to 0$ gives an exact sequence $0 = Ext^1(B, D) \to Ext^1(Y, D) \to Ext^2(A, D) = 0$ (since A is a DG-projective complex and Y is exact). It follows that $Ext^1(Y, D) = 0$ for any $D \in \widetilde{\mathcal{GC}}$, so Y is in $dg(\mathcal{GF})$. Therefore $dw(\mathcal{GF}) \subseteq dg(\mathcal{GF})$. By definition, the other direction always holds. Thus $dg(\mathcal{GF}) = dw(\mathcal{GF})$.

4.
$$\implies$$
 1 This follows from the fact that $dg(\mathcal{GF}) \cap \mathcal{E} = \mathcal{GF}$.

With more hypothesis on the ring, it is known that Theorem 1 and Theorem 2 are equivalent, and moreover, they characterize Gorenstein rings.

Corollary 3.2.1. *Let R be a commutative noetherian ring of finite Krull dimension. The following statements are equivalent:*

- 1. Every exact complex of injective R-modules is totally acyclic.
- 2. Every exact complex of Gorenstein injective R-modules is in $\widetilde{\mathcal{GI}}$.
- 3. Every complex of Gorenstein injective R-modules is a dg-Gorenstein injective complex.
- 4. Every exact complex of flat right R-modules if F-totally acyclic
- 5. Every exact complex of cotorsion-flat right R-modules is F-totally acyclic
- 6. Every exact complex of Gorenstein flat right R-modules is in $\widetilde{\mathcal{GF}}$.
- 7. Every complex of Gorenstein flat right R-modules is a dg-Gorenstein flat complex.

Proof. This is true by [11]. See corollary 2.

REFERENCES

- [1] R. Baer, Abelian groups that are direct summands of every containing abelian group, Bull AMS (1940), 800806.
- [2] R. Baer, Erweiterungen von Gruppen und ihren Isomorphismen, Math. Zeit. 38 (1934), 375416.
- [3] H. Cartan, Seminaire Henri Cartan de topologie algebrique, 1950/1951., Cohomologie des groupes, suite spectrale, faisceaux, Secretariat mathematique, Paris, 1955.
- [4] H. Cartan and S. Eilenberg, Homological Algebra, Princeton U. Press, 1956.
- [5] Christensen, L. W., Frankild, A., Holm, H. On Gorenstein projective, injective and flat dimensions — A functorial description with applications. J. Algebra 302 (2006) 231-279.
- [6] David S. Dummit and Richard M. Foote. Abstract Algebra. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 3rd edition, 2004.
- [7] E.E. Enochs, A. Iacob, Gorenstein injective covers and envelopes over noetherian rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 143 (2015) 512.
- [8] E.E. Enochs and O.M.G. Jenda. Gorenstein injective and projective modules. Math. Zeit., 220:611633, 1995.
- [9] Edgar E. Enochs and Overtoun M. G. Jenda. Relative Homological Algebra. De Gruyter Expositions in Mathematics, 2000.
- [10] E.E. Enochs, O.M.G. Jenda, J.A. Lòpez-Ramos, The existence of Gorenstein flat covers, Math. Scand. 94 (2004) 4662.
- [11] S. Estrada, X. Fu, A. Iacob. Totally acyclic complexes, Journal of Algebra 470 (2017) 300-319.
- [12] S. Estrada, A. Iacob, S. Odabasi: Gorenstein flat and projective (pre)covers, Publicationes Mathematicae Debrecen, 91 (1-2), pp.111121, 2017

- [13] S. Estrada, A. Iacob, H. Zolt, Acyclic Complexes and Gorenstein Rings, Algebra Colloquium (2019), accepted by Algebra Colloquium.
- [14] J. Gillespie, The flat model structure on Ch(R), Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 356 (8) (2004) 33693390.
- [15] D. Hilbert, Uber die Theorie der Algebraischen Formen , Math. Annalen 36 (1890), 473534.
- [16] W. Hurewicz, On duality theorems, abstract 47-7-329, Bull. AMS 47 (1941), 562563
- [17] J. Kelley and E. Pritcher, Exact homomorphism sequences in homology theory, Annals of Math. 48 (1947), 682709.
- [18] H. Krause, The stable derived category of a Noetherian scheme, Compos. Math. 141 (5) (2005) 11281162.
- [19] J. Kelley and E. Pritcher, Exact homomorphism sequences in homology theory, Annals of Math. 48 (1947), 682709.
- [20] L. Mayer, Uber Abstakte Topologie. I und II, Monatsh. Math u. Physik 36 (1929), 142, 219258.
- [21] E. Noether, Ableitung der Elementarteilertheorie aus der Gruppentheorie, Nachrichten
- [22] J. Saroch and J. Stovicek. Singular compactness and definability for Σ -cotorsion and Gorenstein modules. submitted
- [23] C. Weibel (1999). History of homological algebra.
- [24] H. Whitney, Tensor products of abelian groups, Duke Math. J. 4 (1938), 495528
- [25] G. Yang, Z. Liu, Cotorsion pairs and model structures on Ch(R), Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2) 52 (2011) 783797.